In the Supreme Court of the State of California

WESTERN STATES PETROLEUM ASSOCIATION,

5000171

Plaintiff and Respondent,

CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION,

v.

Defendant and Appellant.

(CRC 8.25(b)

Case No.

SUPPEME COURT

FEB 29 2012

Frederick K. Chirich Clork

Second Appellate District, Division Eight, Case No. B225932 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC403167 The Honorable Robert L. Hess, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DAVID S. CHANEY
Chief Assistant Attorney General
FELIX E. LEATHERWOOD
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
BRIAN D. WESLEY
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 219018
300 South Spring Street, Suite 1702

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The California Constitution requires the Board to follow the marketplace to determine the taxable value of real property when the fair market value of the property declines below its base year value. (Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 2, subdivision (b) ("Proposition 8"), implemented in Rev. & Tax. Code, § 51, subd. (a).) To promote uniformity throughout the state in the assessment of property for the purposes of taxation, Government Code section 15606, subdivisions (c) and (e) require the Board to issue regulations, rules, or instructions to guide county assessors on the appropriate appraisal methodologies for different types of real property. Like any other state agency, the Board must make an "initial determination" that a proposed regulation will not have a significant statewide adverse economic impact directly affecting business. (Gov. Code, §§ 11346.3, subd. (a) & 11346.5.)

¹ Proposition 8 (SCA No. 67), adopted in 1978, amended Proposition 13.

The issues presented are:

- 1. Whether the Opinion improperly constrains the Board's ability to perform its constitutional and statutory duties to guide county assessors on appropriate appraisal methodologies by holding that the Board has no discretion under section 51, subdivision (d) to include *fixtures* with land and improvements as a single appraisal unit when it is undisputed that sales and purchases of refinery property in the marketplace normally include fixtures together with land and improvements in a single unit? (See Cal. Const., art. XIII A, § 2; Gov. Code, § 15606, subds. (c) & (e); Rev. & Tax. Code, § 51, subd. (d).)
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal exceed its jurisdiction by rejecting the Board's economic-impact estimate in contravention of the flexibility allowed to administrative agencies by Government Code sections 11346.3, 11346.5 and, 11350, subdivision (b), since there is nothing in the administrative record in conflict with the Economic Impact Statement?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Legislature requires the Board to instruct county assessors on the proper appraisal methodologies for different types of property. (Gov. Code, § 15606, subds. (c) & (e).) To help guide county assessors in appraisals of petroleum refineries, a special type of property, the Board adopted "Rule 474" (Cal. Code Regs, tit. 18, § 474.) Rule 474 defines the "real property" to be valued when appraising petroleum refineries as a

single appraisal unit, including land, improvements, and fixtures. Specifically, Rule 474 *rebuttably presumes* that refinery property constitutes a single appraisal unit for decline-in-value purposes, except when measuring declines caused by disaster. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 474, subd. (d)(2).)

Prior to the adoption of Rule 474, petroleum refineries' fixtures were considered separate "real property" under Rule 461, subdivision (e) (Cal. Code Regs., tit, 18, § 461, subd. (e)), which defines fixtures as a separate appraisal unit. But after hearing testimony from county assessors, the Board concluded that Rule 461 violated both the fair-market or full-cash valuation provisions of the California Constitution and the mandate of Revenue and Tax Code section 51, subdivision (a)(2)² This was determined because refineries normally are bought and sold as a unit (including land, improvements, and fixtures) in the marketplace; whereas, fixtures of most types of properties are sold as a separate unit in the marketplace, which explains the continued existence of Rule 461 as it applies to other types of properties. (Cal. Const. art. XIII, § 1, art. XIII A, § 2; Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 51, 110, subd. (a).) The Board promulgated Rule 474 to correct that problem.

² Hereafter, all statutory references are to the Revenue and Taxation Code unless otherwise indicated.

Following the Board's adoption of Rule 474, Western States

Petroleum Association ("Western States"), an organization of petroleum
refineries from the western United States, filed a complaint for declaratory
relief seeking to invalidate Rule 474. (1 AA 11.)³ Western States alleged
that Rule 474's inclusion of fixtures, as a single appraisal unit with land and
improvements, is inconsistent with section 51, subdivision (d) (hereafter
section 51(d)) because its phrase "normally valued separately" refers to
fixtures.

Western States and the Board filed cross motions for summary judgment. (6 AA 1711; 8 AA 2284.) The trial court granted Western States's motion. (11 AA 3253.) In a published opinion, the Court of Appeal affirmed.⁴

The Court of Appeal held that section 51(d) was intended to provide two separate definitions of real property. According to the Court of Appeal, the first part of subdivision (d) refers to land and improvements by defining real property as those appraisal units that the marketplace commonly buys and sells as a unit. (Opn. at p. 18.) The other definition of real property refers to fixtures because they are "normally valued separately." (Opn. at p. 20.) The Court of Appeal reasoned that these separate definitions were enacted by the Legislature to ensure that property

³ AA refers to Appellant's Appendix

⁴ A copy of the opinion is attached hereto.

owners could maximize depreciation. (Opn. at p. 18.) The appellate court held that Rule 474's single-appraisal-unit presumption is inconsistent with Propositions 8 and 13, because those initiatives were intended to preserve the appraisal methodologies used prior to their adoption. (Opn. at pp. 19-20.)

In a concurring opinion, Justice Rubin expressed his doubts about the appellate court's conclusion that Rule 474 was inconsistent with section 51(d). (Opn. at p. 29, fn. 1.) But he concurred in the judgment, because of his agreement with the holding that the Board's economic impact statement did not comply with the California Administrative Procedures Act ("APA"). (Gov. Code, §§ 11370 et seq.) (Opn. at p. 29.)

The Court of Appeal also held that the Board violated the APA because it failed to provide sufficient evidence to support its conclusion that the adoption of Rule 474 would not have a significant economic impact on petroleum refineries. The Court of Appeal was unfairly critical of the Board's preparation of its economic impact statement. (Opn. at pp. 24-25.) The Court of Appeal held that the APA requires the Board to provide actual and not estimated figures when attempting to estimate the economic impact of Rule 474. (*Id.* at p. 25.)⁵

⁵ Effective January 1, 2012, are new APA requirements concerning the Economic Impact Statement, in particular with respect to regulations with (continued...)

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

- I. REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO SETTLE THE QUESTION REGARDING THE STANDARD THAT SHOULD GUIDE AGENCIES WHEN PREPARING AN ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT, AND ALSO WHETHER THE BOARD HAS THE DISCRETION TO DETERMINE THE APPROPRIATE APPRAISAL UNIT FOR DIFFERENT TYPES OF REAL PROPERTY.
 - A. The Court of Appeal's Opinion that Rule 474 is inconsistent with Section 51(d) undermines the Board's discretion to instruct county assessors on the marketplace's definition of an appraisal unit.

This case presents an issue of first impression about the interpretation of section 51(d). The Court of Appeal's interpretation will prevent the Board from fulfilling its duty to provide instructions to county assessors for proper appraisals of different types of property based on the "marketplace," which is not limited to refinery properties. The court's ruling improperly limits the Board's discretion to adopt appraisal units that follow the marketplace's approach to fair market valuation, an approach required by article XIII A, section 2 of the California Constitution ("Proposition 8"). The Court of Appeal's misinterpretation of section 51(d) permanently makes petroleum refinery fixtures a separate appraisal unit, because the decision forces the Board to maintain the treatment of fixtures

^{(...}continued) an impact of over \$50 million (defined as major regulation). (See 2011 Cal ALS 496; 2011 Cal SB 617; 2011 Cal Stats. ch. 496.)

that existed prior to the passage of Propositions 13 and 8, as determined by the Court, irrespective of the fact that there is no evidence that any *refinery* fixtures were treated as a separate appraisal unit prior to the adoption of Propositions 13 and 8. (Opn. at p. 21.)

The concept of the marketplace setting the proper appraisal unit is already established by section 51(d), as interpreted by Rule 324 (which is unchallenged here). Rule 474 does not set or establish that principle. In fact, Rule 474 does not mandate that all refinery real property be assessed as a single unit, but merely sets a burden of proof in favor of the unit assessment of all refinery real property that is rebuttable. Thus, when the court finds that refineries cannot be assessed as a unit (which include fixtures) it goes beyond California law and conflicts with the constitutional fair market value principle. (Cal. Const., art. XIII, § 1 & art. XIII A, § 2)

1. The Court of Appeal's holding that Rule 474 is inconsistent with section 51(d) results from its misinterpretation of that statute. Specifically, the Court of Appeal interprets section 51(d)'s phrase "normally valued separately" as referring to fixtures. (Opn. at p. 20.) The court rejected the Board's argument that the plain meaning of section 51(d) provides the Board with discretion to adopt appraisal units based on the marketplace. (Opn. at p. 20.)

Importantly, the Court of Appeal's interpretation violates two principles of statutory construction: first, by making the phrase "persons in

the marketplace" mere surplusage; and, second, by reading into the statute the word "fixtures." (See *Lopez v. Superior Court* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 1055, 1066 [held that interpretation of a statute rendering some words surplusage is to be avoided]; *Smith v. Superior Court* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 77, 83 [applied canon of statutory construction that courts must give significance to every word in a statute].)

Section 51, subdivision (d) reads:

For purposes of this section, "real property" means that appraisal unit that persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell as a unit, or that is normally valued separately.

The Court of Appeal's interpretation artificially separates section 51(d), into two separate and fixed types of appraisal units. Under that mistaken interpretation, the first part of section 51(d) defines "real property" as an appraisal unit that includes land, and improvements. And, the court reasoned, the second part of section 51(d), after "or," defines "real property" as an appraisal unit that only includes fixtures. (Opn. at p. 18.) This interpretation ignores first, that "real property" consists of land, improvements, and fixtures (Civ. Code, §§ 660, 657-663); and, second, the disjunctive "or," which provides the Board the discretion to examine the "marketplace" so it can determine if the real property should be valued as a unit or valued separately. Instead of following the plain meaning of section 51(d), the Court of Appeal's erroneous interpretation inserts the word "fixture" into the statute. That word, however, is found nowhere in section

51(d), nor is it found anywhere in the entire statute. (*Smith v. Superior Court, supra* Cal.4th at p. 83.)⁶ This interpretation will effectively remove the Board's statutory power to ever adopt a single appraisal unit methodology, and thereby eliminate the marketplace as the touchstone for defining real property.

The court's decision also completely ignores Rule 324, cited by the Board and unchallenged by Respondent, which interprets section 51, subdivision (d) as follows:

An appraisal unit of property is a collection of assets that functions together, and that persons in the marketplace commonly buy and sell as a single unit or that is normally valued *in the marketplace* separately from other property, or that is specifically designated as such by law. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 324, subd. (b), italics added.)

In accordance with the authority granted by the Legislature (Gov. Code, § 15606), the Board provides guidance to county assessors on the proper "appraisal unit" for various types of properties that is based on how the property transfers in the marketplace. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 324.) The Court of Appeal essentially took this authority away from the Board, and made its own determination of the proper appraisal unit. This

⁶ Although the Court bears the ultimate responsibility for construing section 51, subdivision (d), the court's interpretation also ignores the interpretive canon that courts should grant great weight to an agency's interpretation of its governing statutes. (City of Long Beach v. Department of Industrial Relations (2004) 34 Cal.4th 942, 951.)

will have a detrimental effect on the Board's ability to ensure that properties are valued at fair market value – as constitutionally required.

Thus, the Court of Appeal ruling may have a detrimental impact on other cases going beyond the scope of this litigation. In fact, the Court of Appeal was aware of the impact of its holding when it states that its interpretation of section 51(d) is an issue of overriding "public importance." (Opn. at p. 22, fn. 10.)

2. By holding that fixtures must always be a separate appraisal unit, the Court of Appeal's misinterpretation conflicts with the legislative intent that the Board must instruct county assessors on the different characteristics of property. (Gov. Code, § 15606, subds. (c) & (e).) A report by the 1979 Joint Task Force, which was charged with implementing Propositions 13 and 8, explained that the use of fair market value is required when conducting decline-in-value valuations under Proposition 8. The Task Force report states that Proposition 8 addresses those situations where the property's "actual market value," is less than the Proposition 13 cap on value. (7 AA 2076.) "Actual market value" is the phrase specifically used in the Task Force Report for Proposition 8, which supports the conclusion that the market value principle continues to apply when Proposition 13 limits do not. In fact, this interpretation of Proposition 8 is mandatory under the California Constitution pursuant to the fair market valuation principle set forth therein, and has been confirmed by other courts. (See,

e.g., Cal. Const. art. XIII, § 1, subd. (a) ["All property is taxable and shall be assessed at the same percentage of fair market value"]; *State Bd. of Equalization v. Board of Supervisors* (1980) 105 Cal.App.3d 813, 822.)

Section 51 codifies the fair market value approach because it values real property at its "full cash value," which is synonymous with "fair market value" in section 110. (Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 51, subd. (a)(2) & 110, subd. (a).)

The Court of Appeal's ruling not only contradicts legislative history but creates inconsistency in existing Board regulations. The Court of Appeal held that the Board does not have the power to determine an appraisal unit that "lumps together" fixtures with land and improvements, because it will prevent taxpayers from taking a maximum depreciation deduction. (Opn. at p. 18.) The opinion thus contradicts Board Rules 468, 469, and 473, which the Board either adopted subsequent to the passage of Propositions 13 and 8, or which require the use of a single appraisal unit including fixtures. (See *Exxon Mobil Corp. v. County of Santa Barbara* (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 1347, 1355; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, §§ 468, 469, 473.) As stated above, a similar conflict with Rule 324 is created by the opinion, which specifically states that the marketplace determines the proper appraisal unit.

Rule 324 remains a valid regulation, and is consistent with the fair market value principle of the California Constitution. The Court of Appeal

did not even address Rule 324 in its decision. Thus, the Court of Appeal's interpretation of section 51, subdivision (d) creates an unacceptable inconsistency in the Board's regulatory scheme. (*People ex rel. Younger v. Superior Court of Alameda County* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 30, 42 [Court refused to follow Attorney General's interpretation because it created disharmony in the statutory scheme].) Rules 324, 469, 473 and, Rule 474, subdivision (d)(2) were adopted based on the Board's consistent interpretation of section 51, subdivision (d) and Government Code section 15606, subdivisions (c) and (e) that the Board has the discretion to adopt appraisal units based on the marketplace.

Further, the Court of Appeal is attempting to prevent the Board from adopting valuation methodologies that differ from those applied prior to the adoption of Proposition 13. (Opn. at p. 18.) In order to meet its constitutional and statutory obligations, the Board must be allowed to adopt new valuation methodologies to account for changing marketplace circumstances.

B. The Court of Appeal exceeded its jurisdiction by imposing a higher standard for the preparation of an economic impact statement needed for the Board's adoption of a regulation, in violation of the plain language of Government Code sections 11346.3, 11346.5, and 11350, subdivision (b)(2).

The Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with California Assn. of Medical Products Suppliers v. Maxwell-Jolly (2011) 199 Cal. App. 4th 286. There, the First Appellate District held that the adoption of a new regulation that changed the calculation of Medi-Cal reimbursement rates for medical suppliers complied with the economic impact statement requirements of Government Code section 11346.5. The Court of Appeal held that the agency did not violate the APA when it relied on its own summary statements without estimating whether the regulation would have an economic impact for Medi-Cal providers. (California Assn. of Medical Products Suppliers, supra, 199 Cal.App.4th at p. 312.) In contrast, the Court of Appeal here ruled that the Board's estimate of the economic impact was inadequate because it did not use actual figures in determining the tax impact for a representative petroleum refinery. (Opn. at p. 24.) The effect of the Court of Appeal's ruling is to require a state agency in rulemaking procedures to provide an exhaustive analysis with respect to

⁷ In discussing the requirement of using a "representative" business, the Court of Appeal confuses and conflates subdivisions (a)(8) [economic impacts] and (a)(9) [cost impacts] of section 11346.5 of the Government Code. There is no mention of using a "representative" business in the economic impact subdivision (a)(8).

"each" impacted taxpayer, while ignoring the fact, discussed below, that actual figures may not lawfully used in a public rulemaking hearing without violating taxpayer confidentiality.

The Court of Appeal's decision imposes obligations not required by the plain statutory language of Government Code section 11346.5, subdivision (a)(8), which only requires an agency to produce an "initial" determination of the economic impact of a regulation:

If a state agency, in adopting, amending, or repealing any administrative regulation, makes an initial determination that the action will not have a significant, statewide adverse economic impact directly affecting business, including the ability of California businesses to compete with businesses in other states, it shall make a declaration to that effect in the notice of proposed action....

The Legislature's use of "initial determination" means that an agency does not have to conduct an extensive analysis of the potential economic impact. Thus, the Board, like other agencies, can rely on reasoned estimates. (See *Pulaski v. Occupational Safety & Health Stds. Bd.* (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 1315, 1328-1329, 1336.) The statute intentionally grants agencies flexibility when estimating a regulation's economic impact. But the Court of Appeal's decision threatens to limit, if not to eliminate, an agency's discretion in making initial determinations about a regulation's economic impact.

For example, Government Code section 11346.5, subdivision (a)(8) provides a broad range of evidence that an agency can rely on, such as

"facts, evidence, documents, testimony, or other evidence upon which the agency relies to support its initial determination." Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal held that an economic impact statement cannot use estimates to determine the projected costs. (Opn. at p. 27.) The Court of Appeal held that a proper economic impact statement must have determined the fixture depreciation for each representative refinery. (Opn. at p. 25.) This is, however, contrary to the requirements of the APA, which does not require that depth of analysis for the initial determination in rulemaking.

There is no statutory requirement to conduct an in-depth assessment to determine every possible impact of a proposed regulation. (*California Assn. of Medical Products Suppliers v. Maxwell-Jolly* (2011) 199

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