Case No. S200475

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

WESTERN STATES PETROLEUM ASSOCIATION, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CALIFORNIA STATE BOARD OF EQUALIZATION, Defendant and Appellant

On Appeal from the Court of Appeal, Second District, Division 8 Appellate Court Case No. B225932

MAR 19 2012

AND WESCHI

PLAINTIFF'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

C. STEPHEN DAVIS (No. 93674)
CRIS K. O'NEALL (No. 126160)
ANDREW W. BODEAU (No. 183600)
CAHILL, DAVIS & O'NEALL, LLP
550 S. Hope Street, Suite 1650
Los Angeles, California 90071

Telephone: 213/622-0600 / Facsimile: 213/622-9825

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

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

(a) the Opinion creates the distinction between minerals assessment and manufacturing and industrial assessment; and (b) that refinery fixtures are somehow analogous to fixtures used for mineral extraction.

The argument fails for at least three reasons. First, the difference (which the SBE now mischaracterizes as an inconsistency) between fixtures used to produce minerals and all other fixtures, and the methods of accounting for their depreciation for property tax purposes, existed for

decades before Rule 474 was adopted and those differences will continue with or without Rule 474. To attribute the differences in the methods for accounting for depreciation between extractive and non-extractive properties to the Opinion is absurd.

Second, a difference is not necessarily an inconsistency. There is no inconsistency because the inherent differences between extractive properties and non-extractive properties require use of different techniques to measure fixture depreciation. Mineral production is based on removing minerals (land). The depreciation of the fixtures used to produce the minerals is therefore based on the rate at which the minerals are extracted and the amount of minerals remaining to be produced. Once the minerals are depleted, the fixtures have little or no value. Hence, a single appraisal unit that takes into account mineral depletion and recoverable reserves is used to determine fixture depreciation in that context. (See Respondent's Brief, pp. 41-42.) For all other properties, ski resorts, movie sound stages, amusement parks, food processing facilities and the like, as well as petroleum refiners before Rule 474 was enacted, the value and life of fixtures are unrelated to the rate of mineral (land) depletion. Thus, for such non-mineral properties, fixtures are and will continue to be treated as separate appraisal units.

Third, even SBE Staff rejected the view that mineral extraction properties provided guidance for assessing refining fixtures during the rulemaking process. (2-AA-556 (Issue Paper No. 06-001, recommending the SBE deny Assessors' Petition to Initiate Rulemaking Process to Adopt Rule 474).)

The purported "inconsistency" does not exist, and does not create an unsettled issue of law upon which this Court should grant review.

- B. THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW
 BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL
 CORRECTLY REQUIRED THE SBE TO
 REASONABLY ESTABLISH AND DISCLOSE
 THE ECONOMIC IMPACT OF THE NEW
 RULE.
 - 1. Economic Analysis Determinations Must Be Based on Facts, Evidence, Documents, Testimony, or Other Evidence or Studies.

A primary purpose of the APA is to require administrative agencies to create a record of regulatory activity sufficient to support meaningful judicial review. (*Gov. Code*, § 11346(a).) Under the APA's minimum procedural requirements, the Board was obligated to assess the potential for adverse economic impact on California business enterprises (11-AA-3255:11-12; *Gov. Code*, §§ 11346.2(b)(4), 11346.3(a)), including the costs for "a representative business." (*Gov. Code*, § 11346.5(a)(9).) It was required to base its determination on "adequate information . . . concerning the consequences of . . . proposed governmental action," and the "proposal's impact on business" (*Gov. Code*, § 11346.3(a), (b)), and the Board was required to "provide facts, evidence, documents, testimony, or other evidence upon which the agency relies to support its initial determination." (*Gov. Code*, § 11346.5(a)(8). See also § 11346.2(b)(4); *Gov. Code*, § 11346(a)(1); *Gov. Code*, § 11347.3.) These statutory requirements are hardly "unsettled" and do not support review.

The Court of Appeal concluded that the SBE failed to meet the statutory requirements because it used what amounted to hypothetical

assumptions: "It is not altogether clear in our view whether the numbers used in the 'calculations' reflect actual facts. [Opinion, p. 24] . . . The problem with the [SBE's] issue paper, however, is that it largely hypothetical -- the valuation data figures used in the issue paper's calculations are assumed [Opinion, p. 26]. . . . We depart with the SBE in its implicit proposition that flexibility in making *reasonable* economic estimates and projections equates with *hypothetical* estimates and projections." (Opinion, p. 27, emphasis added.)

The Court of Appeal was rightly concerned about the public's ability to critique the unsupported economic conclusions that were merely asserted by the agency: "SBE would have the public simply accept the agency's ultimate conclusion (\$1.4 million) without the ability to evaluate the conclusion. [Opinion, p. 25] . . . Public participation in the rule-making process requires that an adopting agency show the foundation for its conclusions, if only so that the foundation and conclusions may be subject to meaningful scrutiny." (Opinion, p. 12.)

2. The SBE's Economic Analysis Was Not Fact-Based and Did Not Correlate to the Actual Effect of the New Regulation.

The SBE complains that the Court of Appeal unfairly required the SBE to "provide actual and not estimated figures when attempting to estimate the economic impact of Rule 474." (Petition, pp. 5, 13.) The SBE exaggerates and misstates the grounds for the Court of Appeal's determination that the SBE failed to comply with the APA. The Court of Appeal does not forbid use of economic projections to estimate the economic impact of a new regulation, but it does require that facts support the projection and that the projection methodology be set forth for

examination (the Court of Appeal describes the standard as "real world," Opinion, pp. 25 and 26). The methodology used to calculate the impact must also bear a reasonable relationship to the actual effect of the regulation at hand. Here, the SBE did not base its economic analysis on facts, and neither the Trial Court nor the Court of Appeal could understand how the SBE's method of calculating the regulatory impact had any relationship to the change in assessment methodology made by Rule 474. As Judge Hess observed: "[T]here is zero analysis of, I mean zero analysis of what happens with fixtures." (RT 172:19-21.)

The superficiality of the SBE's analysis was demonstrated by WSPA's Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment at pages 51 to 52. (8-AA-2348 to 2349 and in demonstrative exhibits, 8-AA-2353 to 2356; Declaration of Kathy Spletter in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, 1-RA-1.) WSPA estimated that the actual impact of Rule 474 on a representative refinery was a tax increase of approximately \$7.9 million over a five-year period, and that a tax increase of approximately \$114 million would be imposed on all California refiners for the same period. The facts underlying this conclusion and the methodology used to quantify the tax increases were summarized and depicted by Exhibit "A" to WSPA's Memorandum. This detailed analysis shows that the SBE's \$1.4 million estimate of increased tax (and increasing by an undisclosed amount thereafter), for all California refiners was grossly understated, and that the SBE did not use the method

This information was properly submitted to the Trial Court pursuant to the APA, Gov. Code, § 11350(d)(3) to demonstrate what the SBE should have, but failed to include in the rulemaking file. The Trial Court erroneously sustained objections to that information.

required to realistically determine the impact of the new Rule. The SBE never questioned the accuracy of WSPA's tax estimates proffered at trial and, therefore, implicitly admitted the gross inadequacy of its own rulemaking file.

The Opinion will not have an adverse impact on the administrative rulemaking process. To the contrary, the Opinion simply requires actual adherence to the APA's requirement that government agencies determine and disclose the economic effects of the regulations they promulgate instead of constructing merely an appearance of feigned compliance.

The SBE had opportunity after opportunity to explain the basis for its EIS before the Trial Court (which held a separate hearing for the purpose), before the Court of Appeal and now before this Court, by means of the pending Petition, but has failed to do so. Nor does the SBE assert that the Court of Appeal's description of its methodology is wrong. Furthermore, the SBE has never, not once, contended that WSPA's estimate of the actual economic impact of Rule 474 was wrong. The SBE thus asks the Court to grant review to consider the adequacy of an analysis that it has never demonstrated to any lower court. The self-created inadequacy of the SBE's analysis should not form the basis for review by this Court.

3. The SBE Did Not Need Confidential Data to Comply With the APA.

The SBE seems to urge, without citation of authority, that it should be relieved of its obligation to comply with the APA because compliance would require the use of "confidential information," the nature of which the SBE does not reveal. (Petition, p. 17.) This is untrue. WSPA prepared its

economic analysis, *supra*, at 24, without using confidential data. Moreover, the assessed values and the allocation of those values between land, improvements and fixtures are all in the public record obtainable from the tax rolls. Judge Hess found: "At oral argument on March 19th, the Court understood that actual assessed values were publically available, why were the actual numbers not used to calculate the impact, at least for comparative purposes?" (Order on Submitted Motion, p. 14, fn. 14; 11-AA-3234.) Moreover, local assessors are expressly required to disclose confidential taxpayer information to the SBE upon request (Section 408(b)), and so the "confidential information" the SBE claims to have required was readily available to the SBE.

The SBE did not need confidential data to comply with the APA, and even if it did, the SBE had access to that data.

4. California Association of Medical Products Suppliers Is Consistent With the Opinion.

The SBE asserts that the Opinion conflicts with California Assn. of Medical Products Suppliers v. Maxwell-Jolly (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 286 ("CAMP") (Petition, p. 13). In reality, CAMP is consistent with and supports the Opinion. In this case, the SBE relied upon merely hypothetical or assumed valuation data figures in analyzing the economic impact of Rule 474. (Opinion, p. 26.) Consistent with the Opinion's requirement that the actual impact of a new regulation be determined and disclosed, the CAMP decision states: "[T]he agency must do something more than merely 'consider' a proposal's impact" (CAMP, supra, at 305), and "mere speculative belief is not sufficient to support an agency declaration of its initial determination about economic impact... the agency must provide in

the record any 'facts, evidence, documents, testimony, or other evidence' upon which it relies on for its initial determination." (*Id.* at 305-306.) *CAMP* considered the factual support for the new regulation therein reviewed, in part with respect to "inferences that are the product of logic and reason" (*id.* at 308), and determined that the Department in that case did not act "on speculative belief in light of the record as a whole." In contrast, both the Trial Court and the Court of Appeal in this case determined that the SBE's "analysis" of the economic impact of Rule 474 was hypothetical and assumed -- or speculative to use a different word. The SBE's economic impact analysis does not satisfy the standards articulated in *CAMP*. There is no conflict between *CAMP* and the Opinion.

As to the SBE's assertion that "there is no statutory requirement to conduct an in-depth assessment to determine every possible impact of a proposed regulation" (Petition, p. 15), it is true that the *CAMP* decision holds that "significant' indicates that the agency need not assess or declare all adverse economic impact anticipated." (*CAMP*, *supra*, at 307.) However, it was the SBE that identified increased taxes as the significant impact of Rule 474, and then purported to evaluate that tax impact by means of its hypothetical estimates without demonstrating how the tax increase would actually be calculated in actual practice. Having itself identified the tax impact as a significant consequence of the new Rule, the SBE was required to support its analysis with actual evidence – not mere hypothesis. In any event, the SBE wrongly implies that it was required to identify *all* impacts of Rule 474, when in fact it failed to meaningfully quantify *any* impacts. The SBE's position, when considered in context, is

that it need not demonstrate *any* facts to comply with the APA. Again, there is no conflict between *CAMP* and the Opinion.

5. There Is No Distinction Between "Cost" and "Tax" in this Case.

The SBE contends that the Court of Appeal misinterprets Government Code section 11349.5(a)(9), which requires an agency to determine the "cost impacts . . . that a representative private . . . business would necessarily incur in reasonable compliance with the proposed action." The SBE contends that the statute does not require the taxing agency to calculate the "tax impact" of the regulation. (Petition, p. 16.) The entire purpose of the Rule was to change "the [tax] assessment scheme for fixtures used in refineries." EIS, section "D," (1-AA-168) and "Rule 474 would clarify the assessment of petroleum refineries. . . . " (EIS, section "B," 1-AA-165.) Hence, the cost impact is necessarily measured by the amount of tax that would result from the change required by the new regulation. And the SBE agrees because the EIS prepared by the SBE itself, in section B, labeled "Estimated Costs," identifies increased taxes: "Describe other economic costs that might occur: See Attachment." (1-AA-164.) That attachment provides: "Petroleum refineries are projected to pay \$1.4 million more in property taxes " (1-AA-168.) Thus, the SBE contends that the Court of Appeal erred by interpreting the APA exactly as did the SBE itself.

Just like the SBE attempts to justify an exception to the constitutional requirement to recognize value declines, so also the SBE seems to ask this Court to create an exception from compliance with the APA for regulations intended to increase taxes. The overarching theme of

the Petition is that the SBE can indulge in rulemaking unrestrained by any legal standards. The Opinion simply rejects this view.

CONCLUSION

The Opinion promotes assessment uniformity by restoring refinery fixtures assessment to governance by the same law which governed those assessments for decades and which continues to govern the assessment of all other fixtures.

The Opinion is consistent with and effectuates existing law, *i.e.*, California Constitution, article XIII, section 1 and article XIIIA, section 2 as interpreted by *State Board of Equalization v. Board of Supervisors* more than 30 years ago to mean that the marketplace requires recognition of declines in value caused by depreciation; *County of Orange v. Orange County Assessment Appeals Board, supra,* rejecting the view that the law requires the combination of fixtures and land into a single appraisal unit; SBE Rule 461 that designates fixtures as separate appraisal units to facilitate recognition of fixture depreciation; Section 51 that specifically requires consideration of depreciation to establish market value; and, more than 30 years of the SBE's own interpretation of that authority. In contrast, Rule 474 is inconsistent with all of these authorities. No new, novel or unsettled law is presented by this case, and there is therefore no basis for this Court to grant review.

The Opinion also provides a common sense application of the APA, which is that the mere pretense of compliance is not acceptable and that only transparent, "real world" implementation of the APA requirements with respect to economic impact analysis will suffice.

The Opinion properly offers a strongly populist view of administrative rulemaking. The Opinion emphasizes the importance of respecting the public's oversight of rulemaking activity, an especially sensitive matter in the context of taxation, and requiring compliance with the APA to ensure meaningful public and judicial review.

The Opinion is a beautifully written, cogent decision that stands as a model for judicial writing. This case does not create an inconsistency in existing authority, but instead provides a scholarly overview of the voters' intent in adopting Prop. 13 and Prop. 8. No review is required. The Petition should be denied.